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Stretcher-bearers and firefighters take
injured people from Rolando Café.

Source: Regional Archive of the
Community of Madrid. Martin Santos
Yubero Collection.
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El Rolando 2:15-2:45

50 years since ETA's first massacre

Stretcher-bearers and firefighters take Source: VOLKHART MULLER/EFE/
injured people from Rolando Café. lafototeca.com

On Friday 13 September 1974, at 2.30 p.m., a powerful bomb reinforced with shrap-
nel exploded in the dining room of Cafeteria Rolando (Rolando Café), located on
Correo Street, next to the Puerta del Sol plaza in Madrid. On that day, 11 people died
and more than 70 were injured. As a result of their wounds, Gerardo Garcia Pérez
died on 29 September 1974 and Inspector Félix Ayuso Pinel, the only police officer
among the casualties, died on 11 January 1977. Thus, the final toll of the Rolando
massacre amounted to 13 mortal victims.

It was the first indiscriminate attack in the long history of ETA. However, as on so
many other occasions, ETA killed and then lied about it. Instead of claiming respon-
sibility for the crime, ETA blamed the ultra-right and the Francoist regime. ETA did
not acknowledge responsibility for the attack until 2018.



1. 50 years since ETA's first massacre

[ ?w ==
Firefighters and stretcher-bearers Source: Regional Archive of the Community
remove a body from Rolando Café. of Madrid. Martin Santos Yubero Collection.
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Removing debris in the aftermath of the attack. Source: VOLKHART MULLER/EFE/lafototeca.com



E Years of lead

In the late 1960s, a new wave of international
terrorism emerged. While most of the groups
were extreme left-wing or radical nationalist,
there were also some far-right groups. They
all shared a rejection of parliamentary de-
mocracy.

In 1974, Western Europe became the focus
of this type of political violence. According
to the Global Terrorism Database, 54% of at-
tacks that year took place on the Old Conti-
nent. Europe was also the scene of 400 of the
517 killings committed that year by terrorists
worldwide: 77.3% of the total.

Provisional IRA attack on the Mulberry Bush pub
(Birmingham), 21 November 1974.
Source: Library of Birmingham.
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Neo-fascist attack on the 1486 (Italicus)
express train. 4 August 1974.
Source: https://www.archiviolastampa.it/
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vers a fin de Famnée

Carlos the Jackal attack on Boulevard
Saint-Germain (Paris), 14 September 1974.
Source: https://www.sudouest.fr/
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2. Years of lead

Although they sought to justify their crimes with a range of excuses and operated
across different political systems (from dictatorships such as Franco’s to consoli-
dated democracies such as the UK’s and Italy’s), the terrorists bore an unmistaka-
ble resemblance to each other. Among other things, they resorted to the same tac-
tics, such as the use of explosive devices in indiscriminate attacks. The following
are some of the most lethal from 1974:

Location Country ponsible organisation Ideology Method Deaths Injuries
4 - Radical
Februar isi iona-
Y | Vorkshire | UK Provisional IRA Ir;:ttlona Bomb 12 14
Radical
2 May Belfast UK Ulster Volunteer Force nationa- Bomb 6 18
list
. Radical Grenades
0 Democratic Front for the X
15 May Ma’alot Israel Liberation of Palestine nationa- and 31 70
list firearms
Dublin Radical Car
17 May and Mo- Ireland Ulster Volunteer Force nationa- b 33 258
h ombs
naghan list
28 May Brescia Italy Black Order cl\:liz?-fas- Bomb 8 102
Radical
17 July London UK Provisional IRA nationa- Bomb 1 42
list
San
Benedetto Neo-fas-
4August | oo Italy Black Order cist Bomb 12 44
Sambro
30 East Asia Anti-Japan Armed Extreme
August lege JEfE Front left ol 8 380
. Radical
8 Sep- Mediterra- . - g
b nean Sea Greece Abu Nidal Organization Ir;;zttlona Bomb 88 0
13 Sep- Radical
tember Madrid Spain ETA Ir;:\ttlona— Bomb 13 71
15 Sep- . llich Ramirez Sanchez Extreme
tember PEITS QLSS (Carlos the Jackal) left Ll 2 34
5 Radical
October Guildford UK Provisional IRA Ir;;nttlona- Bombs 5 75
7 No- Radical
Woolwich | UK Provisional IRA nationa- Bomb 2 31
vember list
L Radical
21 No- Birmin- - -
vember i UK Provisional IRA Ir;g\ttlona- Bombs 21 183




El The spiral

La violencia de ETA entre 1959 y 1975
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ETA attacks during the Franocist dictatorship. Source: Compiled by author. Gaizka Fernandez Soldevilla.

ETA carried out its first attack in October 1959 in the midst of the dictatorship.
However, ETA's anti-Francoism was circumstantial. From their perspective, Franco
was a “mere historical accident”. This is why the organisation not only continued
its activity after the death of the Caudillo, but accelerated it: ETA committed 95% of
its 853 killings between 1976 and 2010.

For radical Basque nationalism, the end justified the means. In 1965, ETA adopted
a strategy of action-reaction-action: to provoke, through ETA attacks, indiscrim-
inate repression against the Basque and Navarrese population, so that it would
join ETA in its ‘revolutionary war’. And indeed, the regime reacted with the clumsy
brutality that was expected of it. In fact, that same year, ETA congratulated itself:
“General Franco’s dictatorship is infinitely more positive for our people than a bour-
geois-democratic Republic”.
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3. The spiral

On 7 June 1968, ETA assassinated a Guardia Civil
traffic officer, José Antonio Pardines. Its next vic-
tims were the chief inspector of the San Sebastian
Social Investigation Brigade Melitén Manzanas
(August 1968); the taxi driver Fermin Monaste-
rio (April 1969); the municipal police officer Eloy
Garcia Cambra (August 1972), and the young
Galician workers José Humberto Fouz Escobero,
Jorge Juan Garcia Carneiro and Fernando Quiroga
Veina (March 1973).

José Antonio Pardines.
Source: Guardia Civil.

Guardia Civil José Antonio Pardines’ motorcycle in Source: Guardia Civil.
the spot he was assassinated, 7 June 1968.



3. The spiral
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Funeral procession of José Antonio Pardines in Malpica de Bergantifios (La Coruia), June 1968.
Source: Municipal Archive of Bilbao. La Gaceta del Norte Collection. Author unknown.



3. The spiral

ETA propaganda photograph. Undated (c. 1968).
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid,
Case 3/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).

*

Weapons, explosive materials, license plates and Source: Municipal Archive of Bilbao. La Gaceta del Norte
other objects seized from ETA in an apartment in Collection. Author unknown.
Lekeitio (Bizkaia) on 15 September 1972.
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On 20 December 1973, a bomb made up of 75 kilograms of goma (rubber) 2E-C
exploded on Claudio Coello Street in Madrid as the President of the Government'’s
car was passing by. The car was lifted between 35 and 40 metres into the air before
landing in the premises of a building owned by the Jesuits.

Three people died: Admiral Luis Carrero
Blanco, who was the dictator’s right-hand
man; his driver, José Luis Pérez Mogena,
and his bodyguard, Inspector Juan Antonio
Bueno Fernandez. In addition, seven peo-
ple were wounded, including a five-year-
old girl who suffered serious injuries, and
a ten-month-old girl who was slightly hurt.

The assassination provided ETA with a
great propaganda boon internationally. It
was presented as a considered operation
carried out to prevent “the continuity of
Franco'’s regime”. Believing this, a sector of
society began to see ETA as the spearhead
of the struggle against the regime.

| s AL . s :
The crater left by the bomb blast on Claudio
Coello Street.

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community
of Madrid, Case 3/1977 of the Central Court of
Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).

Device concealed in a briefcase with which an
ETA member (disguised as a worker) activated the
bomb.

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community
of Madrid, Case 3/1977 of the Central Court of
Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).



4. Magnicide

However, this was false. On one hand, the
attack only sought to provoke more repres-
sion. On the other hand, the original plan
had been to kidnap Carrero Blanco. The
organisation discarded the kidnap plan
when, upon his appointment as president,
Carrero Blanco was given more police pro-
tection. ETA was simply presented with an
opportunity and took advantage of it, as it
had information, means and a support net-
work in Madrid.

A -w-:-" ‘%;

Crater on Claudio Coello Street.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid,
Case 3/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).

President Carrero Blanco’s car after the explosion.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community
of Madrid, Case 3/1977 of the Central Court of
Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).

Outline of the attack.

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community
of Madrid, Case 3/1977 of the Central Court of
Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).



o)
B Eva Forest’s network

In 1971, ETA member José Miguel Befaran (Argala) made contact in Madrid with
the married couple of playwright Alfonso Sastre and activist Genoveva Forest, the
latter better known as Eva. Fascinated by the Cuban revolution and the Vietnam
War, they advocated the use of violence as a means of replacing Franco’s dictator-
ship with that of a communist one.

Objects confiscated from the flat on Virgen del Val Street.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid,
Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).

Police photograph of Eva Forest .
Source: EFE/lafototeca.com

Forest recruited and radicalised a handful of her peers and young students with
whom she formed the Popular Liberation Front, which was supposed to be a new
far-left organisation. However, it only ever functioned as a support network for ETA
cells travelling to Madrid. Forest’s network provided them with logistical arrange-
ments, surveillance, contacts, accommodation, hideouts, company and knowledge
of the terrain; in short, whatever support and infrastructure was required. Not
everyone knew what they were doing and for whom.

Without the help of this group and especially that of Eva Forest, ETA would not
have been able to carry out either the assassination of Carrero Blanco in 1973 or
the Rolando Café massacre the following year.



5. Eva Forest’s network
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Entrance to 68 Hogar Street in Alcorcén. Forest ordered the wife of one of her closest devotees to buy this house
in her name using ETA money. In addition to containing a significant arsenal of weapons, it served as a hiding
place for materials used in both the assassination of Carrero Blanco and the Rolando Café massacre.

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21
(Madrid).

AN S s
Interior of the hidden weapons cache on 68 Street Hogar in Alcorcén.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21
(Madrid).




B ETAin 1974

In 1974, the bloodiest year in its history up to that point, ETA murdered 19 people,
to which it would add another 15 mortal victims in 1975.

On 3 April, ETA killed Civil Guard corporal Gregorio Posada Zurrén in Azpeitia. This
was the first attack in which mariettas (pistol-machine guns) that ETA had recently
acquired were used. In the early hours of 3 June, at a roadblock in Ataun, another
ETA member killed the Guardia Civil Manuel Pérez Vazquez.

For that summer, the organisation had prepared two operations. The first was the
kidnapping of the aristocrat and businessman Luis Gémez-Acebo from the beach-
side in Zarautz, where he would be spending his summer holidays. Prior to the
kidnap attempt, one of the ETA members was arrested for theft. In addition, his
companions badly moored the yacht they had rented, resulting in the tide taking
it out to sea. Having got their hands on another boat a few days later, they were
discovered by the Guardia Civil in the estuary of Orio. After an exchange of gunfire,
the ETA members decided to return to Bayonne.

The second operation was the kidnapping of Spanish dignitaries in the port of
Monte Carlo (Monaco). ETA acquired a boat and a villa to hide the hostages. How-
ever, one of the members of the cell, Jokin Azaola, fearing that the kidnapping
would lead to the assassination of the hostages and an escalation of repression,
informed the police. In exchange, he asked that none of his colleagues be arrested.
And so it was done.

In December 1978, when it came to light what had really happened, a gunman as-
sassinated Azaola in Getxo.



6. ETAIn 1974
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Map of the location of President Carlos Arias Navarro’s house, discovered in an ETA ‘mailbox’ in Renteria.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21

(Madrid).



The first cell

In the early hours of 6 July 1974, three ETA members arrived in Madrid: José Maria
Arruabarrena (Tanque), Faustino Estanislao Villanueva (Chapu) and José Manuel
Galarraga (Potxolo). They had been assigned a threefold mission:

1) To construct hideouts in houses belonging to Forest, her followers and people
she had deceived. These were to be used to conceal weapons, ammunition,
propaganda, hostages, and so on.

2) To assassinate the ABC journalist Alfredo Semprun. Neither the cell nor their
support network managed to find him.

3) To test the feasibility of an attack on Rolando Café. Forest and the ETA mem-
bers ate in the establishment. Tanque made a note in his diary of the time when
the establishment was at its busiest.

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21
(Madrid).



7. The first cell

On 23 July, Tanque, Chapu and Potxolo left
Madrid. At almost the same time, 11:00
a.m., a bomb hidden inside a Seat 600 out-
side the Ministry of the Army exploded.
The attack went unreported in the press,
perhaps because it was not claimed, pro-
duced no casualties and would have been
evidence of a severe security flaw. The
shrapnel was similar to what would be
used in Rolando: hardware nuts.

On 28 August, in San Sebastian, a shootout
took place between the Guardia Civil and
two ETA members who were wounded and
arrested: Tanque and José Antonio Gar-
mendia (Tupa). A piece of paper in the for-
mer’s diary read: ‘Rolando 2:15-2:45'. Tan-
que declared that this was the pseudonym
of one of his superiors and the time when
he could call him. No one gave it much im-
portance.

Some of the hideouts and weapons caches
constructed by the ETA cell and its collaborators.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of
Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction
No. 21 (Madrid).




7. The first cell

Note found in Tanque’s diary.

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction
No. 21 (Madrid).

ARoland o 'L g4
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B Revenge

The fall of Tanque and Tupa put paid to the attempted kidnapping of Luis Gémez-Ace-
bo, which added to the fiasco of the operation in Monaco. These failures not only
tarnished the celebrity that ETA had gained with the assassination of Carrero Blan-
co, but also endangered the hegemonic position that the military front held at the
top of the organisation. To demonstrate its strength, without consulting the rest
of the apparatus, the military front set in motion two initiatives: one in the Basque
Country and the other in Madrid.

On Tuesday, 10 September, the Guardia Civil arrested a courier from the military
front near the border with France. The information he provided led to the arrest of
numerous members of the group. During the police operation, Guardia Civil Martin
Duran was mortally wounded by ETA member Juan José Urcelay, who died in a
shootout that same day.

The military front only had one card left to play for revenge: Madrid.

Eva Forest told one of her followers: “There is going to be a very significant action,
better than Carrero’s”.

Dynamite, weapons, ammunition and other objects seized from ETA by the Guardia Civil in Bilbao on 11
September 1974.
Source: Municipal Archive of Bilbao. La Gaceta del Norte Collection. Author unknown.



El The second cell

Bernard Oyarzabal Bidegorri and Maria Lourdes Cristébal were a young French-
Basque couple active in the ETA milieu. Oyarzabal had been part of the commando
that wanted to kidnap the royal family.

The military front trained them in the handling of explosives and gave them 5,000
francs, a timer and 15 kilograms of goma 2E-C dynamite. In addition, they bought
1,000 nuts from a hardware store. On 4 September, the couple travelled to Madrid
by train. They were helped by Eva Forest, their go-to assistant, who put them up in
one of her flats.

Bernard Oyarzabal was one of the young Frenchmen who went on hunger strike in Bayonne Cathedral when the
French Government moved ‘refugees’ (mostly ETA members) away from the Spanish border. His photograph
appeared in Tierra Vasca, November 1972.

Source: https://urazandidigital.euskaletxeak.eus/
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9. The second cell

The two ETA members ate on a couple
of occasions in Rolando Café and drew
a sketch of the premises. They could see
that it was an establishment frequented
by all kinds of customers. They even left
a generous tip for the waiter who served
them, Manuel Llanos Gancedo, to whom
the couple seemed “very nice”.

On 8 September, the military front gave
them the green light to plant the bomb “on
the most opportune day and moment”.

With Forest’s help, they bought the mate-
rial they were lacking and rehearsed both
the assembly of the device and their sub-
sequent escape. On Wednesday the 11th,
they confirmed to their collaborator, For-
est, that they were going to carry out the
attack on Friday the 13th. They needed
to know where in the city she could pick
them up and where they could go into
hiding afterwards. She reassured them: It
was all planned.

Photos of Maria Lourdes Cristobal Elhorga taken
by the French police. Undated.

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community
of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of
Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).
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9. The second cell
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Receipts and notes left by the French
couple in Madrid.

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the
Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the
Central Court of Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).
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9. The second cell
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Receipts and notes left by the French
couple in Madrid.

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the
Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the
Central Court of Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).
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9. The second cell

Receipts and notes left by the French
couple in Madrid.

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the
Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the
Central Court of Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).
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il Puerta del Sol

The Directorate General of Security (DGS) occu-
pied the same building as the current headquar-
ters of the Presidency of the Government of the
Community of Madrid. It was the body of the Min-
istry of the Interior that directed and coordinated
the General Police Corps and the Armed Police.
Among the personnel that worked in the building
were civil servants dedicated to bureaucratic pro-
cedures; the Criminal Investigation Brigade, which
dealt with ordinary crimes; the Social Investiga-
tion Brigade, which pursued the anti-Francoist op-
position and terrorist gangs; Interpol; spokespeo-
ple who informed the press of cases in Madrid,
and so on.

When it was time for breakfast, a snack, or lunch,
the auxiliaries, administrative staff and DGS po-
lice officers usually went home (if they lived near-
by) or went to one of the various catering estab-
lishments in and around Puerta del Sol plaza.

One of them was the Rolando Café-Restaurant, lo-
cated on Correo Street, next to Puerta del Sol, and
which served breakfast and a set menu. Its good
food, the professionalism of its staff, its moderate
price and its central location meant that it attract-
ed a large and varied clientele: tourists, locals, of-
fice workers, manual workers, students, travellers,
journalists, people passing through and civil serv-
ants of all kinds.
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Rolando Café matchbox.

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of
the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977
of the Central Court of Instruction No.
21 (Madrid).




10. Puerta del Sol
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Rolando Café was adjoined to Yenes Café and the Tobogan restaurant—the latter a
modern self-service eatery that was usually very busy during the day.
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Floor plan of Rolando
Café.

Source: Judicial Territorial
Archive of the Community
of Madrid, Case 2/1977

of the Central Court of
Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).



10. Puerta del Sol O

Map of Madrid used by the terrorists.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction
No. 21 (Madrid).
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13 Septemher 1974

Approximate time

8:00

8:30

10:30
11:30

11:40
14:00

14:00

14:30
14:31
14:45
15:30
16:15

17:00
17:30
19:52

5:00

Forest picks up Oyarzabal and Cristébal in her car near 19 Virgen del Val
Street.

She drops them off at a café on Luchana Street next to the Glorieta de
Bilbao.

The Council of Ministers begins at El Pardo Palace.

Forest picks up the ETA members and takes them to Callao Plaza.
Cristébal is carrying a heavy cloth bag. Oyarzabal has a black briefcase.

They assemble the time bomb.

Oyarzabal and Cristobal make themselves comfortable in the dining room
of the Rolando Café.

Other diners begin to enter the room.

Cristébal feigns dizziness. While the waiter Manuel Llanos Gancedo goes
to fetch a herbal tea, the French couple leave the premises “to get some
fresh air” They have left the device under the table.

The explosion occurs.

Officer Pedro Chicote Alonso begins to rescue survivors in Rolando.

The Court of Instruction No. 16 of Madrid is set up at 2 Correo Street.

The body of Manuel Llanos Gancedo is brought to the Red Cross hospital.

The President of the Government, Carlos Arias Navarro, arrives at the
scene.

Forest picks up the ETA members at Plaza de Espafa.
She takes them to Alcorcén, where she puts them up in a ground floor flat.

Minister of Information and Tourism Pio Cabanillas appears before the
press.

The police suspend rescue work until 8:45 on Saturday 14th.
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11. 13 September 1974 O

Dwelling in Virgen del Val where the perpetrators of the Rolando attack stayed overnight.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21
(Madrid).

Source: Pueblo, 18 September 1974.



11. 13 September 1974

Floor plan of Rolando Café after the explosion. Drawn up by the Parque y Maestranza de Artilleria de Madrid.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21
(Madrid).

A man, probably Manuel Llanos Gancedo, is put into an ambulance after being pulled from Rolando Café.
Source: Regional Archive of the Community of Madrid. Martin Santos Yubero Collection.




11. 13 September 1974 O

rubble.
Source: VOLKHART MULLER/EFE/lafototeca.com

Correo Street after the attack.
Source: EFE/lafototeca.com
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11. 13 September 1974 O

Correo Street after the attack.
Source: EFE/lafototeca.com

Interior view of Rolando Café after the debris had been cleared.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21
(Madrid).
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Arrival of President Carlos Arias Navarro at the site of the attack at around 16:15 on 13
September 1974.
Source: Regional Archive of the Community of Madrid. Martin Santos Yubero Collection.
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EL CORREO

ESPANOL

Source: El Correo.

e}

EXPLOSION DE UN ARTEFACTO QUE AFECTO A
BOS ESTABLECIMIENTOS DE

ATENTADO CRIMINAL EN LA
PUERTA DEL SOL: 9 MUER-
TOS Y MAS DE 50 HERIDOS

Source: Virtual Library of Historical Press. Ministry of

Culture and Sport.

Source: Virtual Library of Historical Press. Ministry of
Culture and Sport.

Source: Virtual Library of Historical Press. Ministry of
Culture and Sport.




B Sourmoon

Baldomero Barral and Maria Josefina
Pérez were married on 4 October 1970.
Thanks to a betting pool they won during
the 1972/73 season, they bought a flat and
opened a sweet shop called Los Angeles
in La Coruha, where they were both from.
They had two sons, Ramoén, aged three,
and Baldomero, aged four months, when
the young couple, aged 24 and 21, decided
to go on the honeymoon they had not had
after their wedding. Maria Josefina's moth-
er travelled from the UK to look after the

Baldomero and Maria Josefina on their wedding ] ) )
day, 3 October 1970. little ones while Mero and Chicha, as every-

S : Bald B | Pérez. .
ource: Baidomero Barral merez one knew them, set off for Madrid.

]
I

Photographs from Baldomero and Maria Josefina’s Kodak camera, taken on or the day before the attack. On the
left, Mero is pictured in the Estanque Grande del Buen Retiro. On the right, Maria Josefina is pictured between the
columns of the monument to Alfonso XII.

Source: Baldomero Barral Pérez.

During their time in Madrid, they visited typical sites, such as Retiro Park and Puer-
ta del Sol. As chance would have it, they decided not to go on a planned trip to

Aranjuez and chose instead to eat lunch in Rolando in the city centre.
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12. Sourmoon

Baldomero’s lifeless body was the first to be retrieved by the firefighters. He was
taken directly to the Forensic Anatomical Institute. The remains of Maria Josefi-
na were admitted to the Ciudad Sanitaria Francisco Franco. Until Maria Josefina’s
handbag was found in the rubble, neither of the couple were identified.

Another couple enjoying their honeymoon
in Madrid, on their way to Malaga, was An-
tonio Alonso Palacin and Maria Jesus Ar-
cos Tirado, aged 28 and 26, respectively.
They had married on 7 September in the
church of San Juan (Calatayud). Antonio
was from Alhama de Aragén and Maria
Jesus from Contamina, the town where
they lived. Both died.

Antonio and Maria Jesus on their wedding day in
Calatayud, 7 September 1974.
Source: EFE/lafototeca.com

17.421.047 YO s | — 73.095.770

Antonio ; . ="' | o Maria Jesds
Alonso = n Arcos
Palacin e Tirado

58 "] @ : B ss
103,387 L.F. e 91.993 P, N, 8

National identity cards of Antonio Alonso Palacin and Maria Jesus Arcos Tirado.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21
(Madrid).

_38_



IE At the stove

Francisco Gomez Vaquero and Blanca Condado
Aguilar on their wedding day, celebrated in Madrid
on 10 August, 1968.

Source: Alicia Gémez Condado.

Francisco Gomez Vaquero in the uniform of one
of the restaurants where he worked before being
employed at Rolando.

Source: Alicia Gémez Condado.

Francisco Gomez Vaquero with his wife, Blanca
Condado Aguilar, and his daughter Alicia.
Source: Alicia Gomez Condado.

Francisco Gomez Vaquero (Paco) worked
as a chef at Rolando. In the morning, as
he did every day, he said goodbye to his
wife, Blanca Condado, and his daughters,
Alicia, aged four, and Sara, aged two.

The restaurant’s kitchen was on the
ground floor. At the time of the explosion,
Paco and his assistant, 16-year-old San-
tiago Martinez Gémez; Carmen Sabido
Gracia, 19, who was in charge of washing
the dishes, and Florentina Carro Ramon,
35, who worked as a cashier and had
come downstairs to eat, were in the kitch-
en. All were unharmed except for Paco,
who died.
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Blanca Condado Aguilar, widow of Francisco Gomez Vaquero, and their daughters, Alicia and Sara, are visited by
the president and director of Mutualidad de Hosteleria (Hospitality Alliance).
Source: San Pablo-CEU University Foundation. San Pablo-CEU University Library. Ya Collection.
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Manuel Llanos Gancedo working as a waiter.
Source: Aidé Llanos Dominguez.

Another of the employees killed was the
waiter Manuel Llanos Gancedo. Manuel
stood out for his friendliness, ability to
make friends and love for his work. From
Villar de Vildas in Asturias, he was 26
years old and had been working at Rolan-
do since its opening. He had served food
to the terrorists, so he was probably very
close to the bomb. His body was among
those most affected by the impact of the
nuts.
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At the wedding of his brother Antonio to Aidé Dominguez. Manuel is located on the far left. Next to him is his
older brother, José, and in the opposite corner, his parents, Manuel and Carmen.
Source: Aidé Llanos Dominguez.

Manuel Llanos Gancedo.
Source: Aidé Llanos Dominguez.
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13. At the stove

Emilio Candil Garcia and Ismael Lépez Ollero, both waiters, suffered severe inju-
ries. Antonio Carro Raman, general manager of the business, was blinded.

Como una corriente eléctrica

MADRID, 14, (INFORMA-
CIONES.) - Duoe de les her-
dm qu.c peranecian ingre-

el centro de reha-
hllllacLun ¥ brawmatologia de
la Ciudad Sanitavin a az
eran preclzamente los dos
mareras del bar. Su azoecto
podrin calificarse de normal,
en lo que cabe. Emilio Can-
dil Gareia, de velntitrés afos,

pudo responder a4 muestras
preguntas con gran claridad
¥ serenidad da doimo.

—Me ¢ncontraba en o
pursto, tn la barm,  Acaba.
ba de cabrarle a un cliente el
calé que habia consumide v
de repente sent! como una

te eléctrica.

—;En el momenla e a
exr\lnskm?

~Ho of la explosion. Sl
que unm especie de co-
rrie.ntc me invadio el cuﬂuu
Me polé como
barra, Vi caer escombros
noté que se arremelimaba "

gente, quizl cortin. No sé ..
EN Boces Segumn TG Pro-
Erezlvamente, perdi nocisn
cuanto me rodesba, Pude
legar n la calle y una ver
alll ya = me borrd 0.

cCorria la gente, oyd wn-

=No podria declrio. ‘odo
fue muy confuso. Fue como
una exieaia sensacion que
no he podide olvider.

El sefior Candll Gars.a
ainde que en el eclabiec-
nandn com\lmj

bria
treinta o treints ¥ eineo fm
=onas. Dwntro, en el comedar,
cree gue estaba lleno, DPTD ne
pirede afirmar nada al res.
pues aguel atnicle o
depende de 6L

~Los de ln bara eran en
il MOYOr pRrte inspectores
de Policia. Clientes que como-
conies blen, de antiguo, pues

Pelfer
Loz bomberos realizan trabajos de descombro en r.l Inbl"rlor
del edifivio para rescatar a las vietimas

enfrente  esti la  Direccion
Ceneral de Seguridad

L coincidencla de lay vi-
venclas de don Emilio Candil
¥ su companers don lsmact
Lb?cz Qliera_es casi mbsolu=

ta. Esti en distinfa sala del
cEh

—Note un calaunbre. Sentd
un galpe tromendo en la cum
y due me quedaba como e
podo a s asdquing. Me cos-
L trubajo soitarme. Sali eo-

% ya no eé declrle e
hube aglomeraciom o no en
la puerta. El cuso es que lo
ultimo gue recuerdo o5 que
llegaba a lx calle ¥ nada mais.
Ferdi el congcimienta,

Fue muy fuerte la ex-
plositn?

~Es que no sé sl bubo o
no exploalon. No o tal explo-
sién. Nada mas el golpe en
la cara, v en aguel momento
como &l me cayera de un pis
50 4 otro.

Ismacl Otiero tiene el lado
imuierdo de la cara ron
miltiples herldas v el ojo de
ese lado tumefacto. El aspee-
to de las lesiones impresio-
na pere nos dicen los meédi-
COS qQUE OO0 ©5 CO OHO
ménte alarmante. aunque el
prondstico sea grave.

RESCATO A QUINCE
PERSONAS

Don Pedro Chicote Alonso
ez policia. En el momento de
la explosion se encontmos
paseando por la calle de Co-
rrecs, esperando la hora e
entrar en U trabajo. Ahors
e am:u!nm en la clinica
Francisco Franco de la Ui~
nularl.fm Provinclal.

—No pueda decly que viera
ni oyern nada en el rimer
momento. Sent! la explosion,
o0 5i. Al momento los  iios

rocedentes de los restaurni-
e5 vy las gentes que ealinm
carriendo, llenas de sangre,

me decidieron o entrar. O
vaoces de los jefes que se en-
contmban en el lugar, orde-
nindonos el vescate. Fntrd
dentra del bar Relande ¥
CONSNEU] BReAr A quince pers
somas. Todas ellas en brozos.
Ftescaté o un nine pequeia,
pere cuando intentaba salvar
8 ung mujer caya parte del
suelo. WMo pode harer mus.
Sali como pude ¥ e obliga-
ron ® Acostarme oo una ca-
milla, Creo que todo lo fue
tengo en el pecha &5 eonee.
euencia de calgar eon tin'a
..
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Interview published in the
newspaper Informaciones
with the waiters Emilio
Candil Garcia and Ismael
Lépez Ollero.

Source: Juan Linz Archive of
the Spanish Transition, Juan
March Foundation Library,
Madrid.



I In the prime of their lives

- Maria Angeles Rey Martinez, 20, from
Burgos, was studying at her local Vo-
cational School in the neighbourhood
of Yagiie. She had travelled to Madrid
with 16 other girls to sit the exam for
the only remaining subject she need-
ed to acquire the title of business as-
sistant.

National identity card of Maria Angeles Rey Martinez. On Friday the 13th, Maria Angele s
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, )
Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21 (Madrid). Was With four of her classmates: Sara

Renedo, Yolanda Busto, Rosario San

Miguel and Maria Jesus Arandilla. They met for lunch at Tobogan, a very popular
establishment due to its self-service system, its affordable price and its central and
touristy location. For five young people from provincial Spain, visiting the capital
was a rare opportunity.

When the bomb exploded, Yolanda,
Rosario and Maria Jesus were still
waiting outside the restaurant in a
queue. Sara and Maria Angeles had
just entered, which was the difference
between life and death.

Sara suffered injuries to various parts
: \ of her body, including a particularly

. I .1 large wound to her forehead. Maria
The Tobogan restaurant after the removal of rubble. Angeles died as a result of the impact
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of

Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21 Of dEbI’IS and Other matenals that fe”
(Madrid). on her.
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Internal view of Tobogan showing damage at its adjoining wall with Rolando.

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21
(Madrid).

—1 . /] ""fi P
Mourners leave the church of San Pedro y San Felices in Burgos after the funeral of Maria Angeles Rey Martinez,
15 September 1974.

Source: EFE/lafototeca.com
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IE Anindiscriminate attack

|~ I

. AGRUPACION SINDICAL DE REPRESENTANTES |

DE COMERCIO
.'.fiJ INDICATO WACIONAL DE ACTIVIDADES [ _ :
J SECCION DE MADRILID 4.248

’ 1
f 3\ i fasir da D : l

Luis Martinez Martin was identified by his union card. He

[

was the first victim to be identified after the attack.

Source: Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community
of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of the Central Court of Instruction No.

21 (Madrid).

Francisca Baeza Alarcon.
Source: EFE/lafototeca.com

Pensioner Luis Martinez Martin, 77,
from Valladolid, was a widower with
three daughters. He was probably in
the dining room when a beam fell on
him. His body was found two hours
later and taken to the Forensic Ana-
tomical Institute.

Also killed was the 45-year-old teacher
Francisca Baeza Alarcén, who often
went to Rolando when she visited Ma-
drid. On this occasion, she was eating
with her niece, Maria Isabel Gonzélez
Castro, 21, who was seriously injured
in the blast. Francisca taught at the
Jesus Castillo school in Valdepeias
(Ciudad Real) and looked after her el-
derly parents.

Graphic arts employee Gerardo Garcia
Pérez, who was waiting for a friend, was
seriously injured. He underwent emer-
gency surgery but died on 29 Septem-
ber. Born in Madrid, he was 43 years old
and married with three children.

Antonio Lobo Aguado was from Vil-
lanueva del Rio y Minas (Seville), al-
though he lived in Madrid with his wife
and two daughters. He worked for
Renfe in the mornings and at a football
pools office near Puerta del Sol in the
evenings. On Friday 13th, at 2.30 p.m,,
he was paying the bill for his lunch
when everything went to pieces.



15. An indiscriminate attack

Antonio Lobo Aguado with his wife, Antonia Morcillo Romero, and their daughters, Amalia and Maria Isabel, on a
day of celebration in Antonio’s home town of Villanueva del Rio y Minas (Seville).
Source: Maria Isabel Lobo Morcillo.

Funeral of Antonio Lobo Aguado in Villanueva del Rio y Minas (Sevilla), 16 September 1974.
Source: EFE/lafototeca.com
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I The Directorate General of Security (DGS)

Rolando’s varied cli-
entele on 13 Sep-
tember 1974 ranged
from the brother of a
detainee in the DGS
cells, who was wait-
ing to hear from him,
to civil servants of
the Armed Police and
General Police Corps.

Also among the clien-
tele V\{ere Inspectors Concepcion Pérez Paino.

José Angel Aguiriano  Source: EFE/lafototeca.com
Bardoén and Félix Ayu-

so Pinel. They did not

usually go to Rolando, but as it was José Angel’s
last day before the holidays, he encouraged Félix
to say goodbye with a beer. A beam fell on Ayuso’s
head. As a result of the injury, he had to relearn
how to speak, write, move... On 11 January 1977,
he died of a stroke, becoming the thirteenth fatality
of the attack.

The DGS was not only staffed by police officers.
Concepcion Pérez Paino was an administrative
clerk in the Archives Department and usually ate
lunch at Rolando with a colleague who had been
delayed that day by a last-minute assignment. A
native of Carabanchel, she was 62 years old and
single. She died from the impact of a nut to her
neck and two others to her thorax.

Some 2,000 people accompanied the funeral procession of the civil servant

Front page of ABC showing the
President of the Government, Carlos
Arias Navarro, greeting a relative of
Concepcion Pérez Paino.

Source: ABC.
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Félix Ayuso Pinel with his children, Maria Jesus and Antonio.
Source: Maria Jesus Ayuso del Pueyo.

Félix Ayuso Pinel and his wife, Purificacion g‘ X Q

del Pueyo, when they were engaged. He is '
wearing a soldier’s uniform.
Source: Maria Jesus Ayuso del Pueyo.

The Ayuso del Pueyo family: Félix and Marceliano Gutiérrez Rodriguez, then an inspector, was one of
Purificacion with their children, Maria Jesus the police officers injured in the attack. In the photograph, he is
and Antonio. wearing, among others, the Distinction of Victim of Terrorism and
Source: Maria Jesus Ayuso del Pueyo. the Cross of Police Merit with red badge.

Source: Marceliano Gutiérrez Rodriguez.
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One of the sides of the DGS faced on to Rolando Café, with the result that several members of the police and
administrative staff inside the building were injured to varying degrees by broken glass.
Source: Regional Archive of the Community of Madrid. Martin Santos Yubero Collection.
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Relacién de muertos y heridos en
los centros sanitarios

En la Ciudad Sanitaria Francisco Franco el movimiento
de victimas registrado es el siguiente; Cuatro personas muer-
tas y veinte heridas de diversa consideracion. De las cuatro
personas atendidas y gque perdieron la vida, solamente ha
sido identificada una, don Antonio Lobo Apnado, que in-
gresé ya caddver, Un hombre y dos mujeres —unag de ellas
joven— continton sin identificar, Los heridos allf interna-

dos son los sfgufenies:

José Cuesta Valcarcel, pro-
néstico grave.

Vicente Esteban Sanz, pro-
nostico reservado.

Salvadora zarza Martinez,
prondstico grave.

Fernando Simén Salvat,
prondstico reservado.

José Sanchez Valentin, pro-
nastico grave.

José Ubach Taranco,
nostico muy grave.

José Angel Asturiano Bar-
don, prondstico grave.

Conrado Delso Pérez, pro-
nastico grave,

pro-

Pedro Chicote Alonso, pro-
nastico reservado.

Benilde Rubio Martin, pro-
nostico reservado.

Emelinda Martin Martin,
pronéstico grave.

Gerardo Garcia Péresz, pro-
nostico muy grave.

Francisca Palma 8cdi, pro-
nastico reservado.

Antonlo Guzméan Veldz-
quez, prondstico leve.

Teresa Jiménez Pariente,
pronostico Yeservado.

Maria del Carmen Manza-
nares Jiménez, prondstico re-
servado.

Federizo Lazaro (}'urramho,
prondstico reservado.

José Ripollés Gn}rrls pro-
nostico reservado.

Rosa Alcamiz Séinchez, pro®
nostico reservado.

Marcelino Gutiérrez Rodri-
guez, prondstico reservado,

HOSPITAL DE LA
CRUZ ROJA

En el Hospital Central de
la Cruz Roja fueron interna-
das las siguientes personas:

adelina Aguado, de cator-
ce anos, con heridas de pro-
nostico reservado.

Dolores Aguado, hermana
de la anterior, de cinco anos,
con heridas igualmente de
prondstico reservado.

PFélix Ayuso, de cuarenta ¥
seis afios, ¢ on hundimiento
oseo craneal, de prondstico
grave.

Isabel Gonzalez, de diecl-
siete anos, con ambas pler-
nas destrozadas. Prondstico

grave.

Otra vietima fallecié al po-
co de ingresar, Lo dnico que
se sabe de ella es que, al pa-
recer, se llamaba Manuel,
aparentaba tener unos trein-
ta aflos y parece ser que tra-
bajaba en la cerveceria como
encargado.

EN EL HOSPITAL CLINICO

Ingresaron cineo personas,
una de ellas muerta. Se tra-

Informaciones, 14 September 1974.
Source: Juan Linz Archive of the Spanish Transition, Juan March Foundation Library, Madrid..

ta de Prancisco Gdémez Va-
uero. Log herldos. que gue-
aron Iingresados, son: José
Herrero, de pronostico grave,
v Anzonm' Carro Ramoén, gra-

8.
Pasaron a Bus dom!.cuios
sus le-

wez msistides
sitmes Ratael Mnyors,l y Be-
rafina Ramos Peérez.

CIUDAD SANITARIA
LA PAZ

La eciudad sanitaria de La
Paz facllité los siguientes
Somhres de personas &sisti
as

Rosa Maria Villasefior Rl
vero, pronﬁsl‘.lco leve. R

Manuel Apariclo, prondsti-
cO MENnos grave.

Elena Rubio Rubio, pronds-
tico leve.

Pilar Sanchez Rodriguez,
pronostico lev

M]chell Angles pronodstice

lev

Lma Pulg Angles, pronds-
tico leve.

Marc Angles, pronodstico

leve.

Casilda GoOmez Acero, pro-
nostico leve.

Zhacer Benyalina, pronds-
tico leve.

anselmo Villasefior,
nastico leve,

Manuel Jouver de la Barre-

pro-

ra, prondstico grave

: Santlage Martinez Gomes,
eve,

ismael Ldpez Ollero, pro-
nostico grave.

Emilic Candil Garcia, pro-
nastico grave.

Carmen Garrido Gareia,
prondstico leve.

Una joven, no ldentificada,
ingresé ya cadaver en este
centro. Aparenta tener unos
veinte afios de edad.

FUNCIONARIOS DI LA
POLICIA HERIDOS

Una Trelacién, al parecer
provisional, de funcionarios
de la Policia y miembros de
la Policia Armada que se en-
cuentran enfre las victimas
glae Ia explosidn, es la siguien-

Don José Cuesta Valearcel,
don José Ubach Taranco,
comisario; don José Sinchez
Valentin, don Conrado Delso
Pérez, dofa Teresa Giménez
Valiente, don Federico Laza-
ro Camacho, don José Ripo-
1lés Gorrls,. don Pedro
cote Alonso, don Manuel A
riclo, dofia Elena Rubio
bio y don Féliz Ayuso.
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ann

16 abril 1975

B. O. del E~Niim. 91

iamos el recurso y declaramos ajustada a derecho la resolu.
ion impugnada; Jn hacer declaracién alguna sobre las cos-
de este recu

De conformidad con el anterior fallo,

Este Ministerio, en cumplilmiente de lo establecido en el are
iculo 105 del texto refundide de Ja Ley de lo Contenciosa-
wministrativo do 27 de diciembre de 1856, ha tenido a bien
isponer la o ién de esta la en sus proplos tér-

1inos,
Lo que comunico & V. I. para su conocimionto y demds efec-
Dlos guarde a V. I. muchos afios
Madrid, 10 de marzo de ms-Fx D., el Subsecretario do
lacienda, Fernande Benzo Mastre.

me. Sr, Presidente del Jurade Central Tributario,

999 BANCO DE ESPANA
Mercado de Divisas de Madrid
Cambios oficinles del din 15 de abril de 1975
Camblos
Divisas convertibles

Comprador Vondedor
1 dédar U, (§1] 56,365 88,518
1 dolar unadlnm 55,604 55,018
1 franco francés 13,387 13,454
1 libra esterling 132,773 133,309
1 franco sulzo 21.888 21.667
o frances belgas 158,985 159,915
1 marea alemin 23,523 23,843
W lirag italinnas B, 558 L
1 florin holandés 23,000 23,208
1 corona suscn 14,081 14,158
1 corona danesa . 10,127 10.178
1 corona noruega 11,254 11,310
1 marco finlandés 15,720 15,811
W0 chelines wustrineo 31,617 M 886
0 escudos portuguese 226,547 220.072
W yins japoneses 18,347 16,430

e aoll:n:ién sord mtk-m por el Banco de Ewaha a los da-
rea do ﬂonua ‘é Tormalice intercambio con los siguientes pai-
@ Colombla, Cubs vy Guinca Ecustorinl.

MINISTERIO
DE LA GOBERNACION

ORDEN do 13 de marze do 1975 por la que G con-
cede la Cruz al Mdrito Policial con distintive rojo
a los miembrog de log Cuerpos General de Poligia
¥ de Policia Armada que se citan.

Excmo. Sr.: En wtencién a los mérites que concurren on los
eresados, o propucsta de esa Direcclén General y por con-
derarles comprendidos en el articulo 6.* de la Ley 571964, de
' de abril, este Ministorio ha tenide o bien conceder la Cruz
| Mérito Policial con distintive rolo a los miembros de la
slicla Gubernativa gue & continuncin se sxpresan:

Cuerpo Ceneral de Policia

Comisarie de 2. don Conrade Delsoe Pérer.
Inspector-Jefe don Francisco Fernandez-Valencia Matamoros.
Inspector de 1.* don Félix Ayuso Pinel,
Inspector de 2.° don Fernando Simén Salvnt.
Inspector de 2.* don José Ubach Taran
Inspector de 3.* don Diego Robledo Hwnﬁndn
Inspector do 3.! don José Angel Aguiriano Dardén.
de 3.* no Grutiérrez Rodriguez.
de a.* don Manuel Aparicio Fuente
Subinspector de 1* don José Marin Saurns Vézquez

Lusrno de Policia Armada

Surgente 1.* don Manuel Corrales Gomez,
FPalicia don Pedro Cliicote Alonso.

A los fines del articulo 185, namere 2,10, de la Ley 4171084,

000

! 1L do junio, de Meforma del Sistema Tributario, las ex-

presadas condecoraciones se otorgan para promiar servicios de
cardelor extragrdinario,
Lo d! . E. para su conocimiento y efectos.
Diag arde & V. E. muchos afios.
Madrid, 13 de marzo de 1975,
GARCIA HERNANDEZ

Excmo, Sr. Director general de Seguridad.

ORDEN da 13 da marzo de 1075 por la que sa con-

cede la Cruz al Mdrito Policial con distintivo blan.

M al Inspector de 1.* clase dol Cutrpo General de
Folicin don  Francisco Saavedre Llorente.

Exemo, Sr.: En stencion a log mdritos que concurren en el
Interesado, & propuesia de esa Direccldn General y por comsi-
denrlo comprendido en el articule 7.° de la Ley 5/1984, de 20

abril,

Estu Ministerio ha tenjdo & blen conceder la Cruz al M.
rito Policial con distintive blance al Imspector do 1.° clase del
Cuerpo General de Policia don Francisco Saavedra Llorente.

A los fines del articulo 165, numero 2.10 de la Loy 4171984,
de 11 de junio de Reforma del Sistema Tributario, la expresa-
da condecorsclén se otorga pars premiar servicios de cardcter
extroordinario,

8001

Lo digo a V. a sy conoclmiento y efectos.
Diog uaﬂ!o @ \f - Miuchos afios.
Madrid, 13 de marzo de 1975.

GARCIA HERNANDEZ
Excmo. Sr. Director gancral de Seguridad.

ORDEN de 13 de marzo de 1675 por lo que so
concade la Cruz al Mdrito Policial con distintive
rojo al Policia armada dan Eloy Carrera Pefa.

EKCIHO Sr; En nwncmn a lO! mriloe que coneumn en ol
General y por conside-
rarls compmluildo en ol nruculo 8 do la Ley 571064, dg 29 de

Ests Ministerio ha cenido & blen conceder la Cruz al Mérito
Polk'lal con distintive rojo al Pelicin armade den Eloy Carrera

A los fines de! artfculo 185 ndmore 210, de la Ley 4171804,
de 11 de junio, de Reforma del Sistema Triburarto. la e:pmnda
condecoracién se otorga para promiar servicios de cardcter

Lo digo a V. E. para su conorimiento y efectos.
Dios guarde a V. E. muchos afos.
Madrid, 13 de marzo de 1803,

8002

extraordinario.

GARCIA HERNANDEZ

Excmo. Sr, Director general de Seguridad.

ORDEN deg 13 dg¢ marzo de 1975 por la que fo ¢on-
cede la Cruz al Mérita Policial con distintiva rojo
al Inspector de 3.° clase del Cuerpo General de Po-
licla don Manuel Ignacio Bragedo de las lerxt

E&Ing Sr En atencidn a los :uéritoa que cencumn en el
int de mu General y por considis
rarls eolumndld'o en ¢l articulo 8~ de la Loy 5/1964, de 29 de

I,

Este Ministerio ha tenido a bien conceder la Cruz a] Mirito
Policlu]l con distintive rojo al I tor do 3.° clase del Cuerpo
Ceneral de Pelicla don Manue: Ignatic Bragade de las Heras.

A los fines del articulo 185, nlimero 2.10, de ln Ley 4171964,
de 11 de junio, de Heforma del Sistema Tributario, Ia wpmaadn
condeceracién se otorga para premiar servicios de cardcter
uxtraurd.!narlo

Lo digo a V. E, parn su eonulmiento ¥ efectos.

mrdn a V. E. muchos &
Madrid, 13 de marzo de 1975,

8003

GARCIA HERNANDEZ
0. Sr. Director ganeral de Seguridad,

Exc

ORDEN de 9 de abril de 1075 por la aue s& egtable-
cen lug aportaciones municipales a la Corporaciin
Matropolitana de Barcelona on @l eferciclo de 1075,

8004

Tlma. Sr.: El Dprmm -ley Vlm de 23 de a osto. por el que
=0 crea la Entidad M 1 Metr o] 05
tabloce en su articulo 110, como ingresos de la Entidad, las
aportaciones de los Ayuntamientos integrados en la misma. El
articulo 12 inmediate detormina que los citados Ayu.nl.nnmmoa
contribuirdn anualmente mediante uns aportacién calculada
sobre el buporte de sus presupuestos ordinarios, que Ii]azi el

Order awarding the Cross of Police Merit with red badge to the members of the General Police
and Armed Police Corps who were wounded on 13 September 1974.

Source: BOE, No. 91, 16 April 1975.
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The scene of the crime

K

| {
e

Outside view of Rolando.
Source: VOLKHART MULLER/EFE/lafototeca.com

The bomb was planted in Rolando, but also affected adjoining premises. The To-
bogan restaurant fared the worst. In other establishments, there were no casualties.

On the same street was Paneria Inglesa, a business dedicated to selling fabrics.
Due to its split opening hours, no one was in the shop in the middle of the day. Al-
most all of the business material was rendered useless.

Two employees of Yenes Café, José Herrero and his assistant Manuel Crespo,
were injured when part of the roof collapsed. Perfumeria Urquiola and the flats
above Rolando sustained some material damage.

The President of the Government, Carlos Arias Navarro, arrived at 16:15. Other au-
thorities later appeared. Prince Juan Carlos, who was in Palma de Mallorca, sent a
telegram to express his condolences. Days later he visited the wounded, accompa-
nied by Princess Sofia.



17. The scene of the crime

Panieria Inglesa, next to Rolando Café.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977
of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).

=

Interior of Paieria Inglesa.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977
of the Central Court of Instruction No. 21 (Madrid).

Telegrama de condolencia
del Principe de Espafia

MADRID, 4. (INFORMACIONES.) — Desde Palma
de Mallores, 8. A. R. ¢l Principe de Espaha dirigid sl
nresidente del Gobierne, a los pocos minutes de cono-
cerse el guceso, ef siguiente telegrama;

Al tener noticia del salvaje atenfado perpetrado en
21 dig de how, guiero expresar mi profunde senfimiento
por tan doloroso suceso, agradeciéndoie hapgs llegar g
:as familias de ias victimas mi sincere pesar en este
triste momento.—Firmado; Juan Carlos de Borhon v
Zorbon, Principe de Espabay
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One of Rolando Café’s windows.
Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the
Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of
the Central Court of Instruction No. 21
(Madrid).
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A flat above Rolando.

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the
Community of Madrid, Case 2/1977 of
the Central Court of Instruction No. 21
(Madrid).

Telegram of Juan Carlos de Borbon
published in the daily newspaper
Informaciones on 14 September 1974.
Source: Juan Linz Archive of the Spanish
Transition, Juan March Foundation
Library, Madrid.



Il Heroes

Firefighters and stretcher-bearers removing an injured person.
Source: Regional Archive of the Community of Madrid. Martin Santos Yubero Collection.

The response to the massacre brought out the best in people: neighbours, employ-
ees of the affected establishments, firefighters, police officers, sanitary workers,
taxi drivers, and so forth. Their quick, effective and selfless action saved an incal-
culable number of lives.

A prime example of this was the case of 25-year-old Pedro Chicote Alonso. A native
of Palacios de la Sierra (Burgos), although living in Bilbao, Pedro had been studying
for a permanent job in the Armed Police. On 2 September 1974, he was given his
first posting: the police station on Leganitos Street (Madrid).

On Friday the 13th, after lunch, Pedro was walking down Correo Street to go to work
when the bomb went off. The shockwave sent him flying through the air. From the
ground, he heard the screams of the wounded. Despite the danger, falling debris
and smoke, he entered Rolando Café to look for survivors.

_56_



18. Heroes O

Pedro Chicote Alonso in his Armed
Police uniform.
Source: Pedro Chicote Alonso.

Pedro Chicote Alonso in the dress
uniform of the National Police. He is
wearing, among others, the Cross of
Police Merit with red badge and the
Commendation of the Royal Order of
Civilian Recognition to the Victims of
Terrorism.

Source: Pedro Chicote Alonso

Pedro repeatedly went in and out of the establishment until he rescued, according
to the press, 15 people. The last two were a girl that had been trapped by debris,
and a woman in a very bad condition. After lying her down on the street, the officer
collapsed and was taken to hospital.

Pedro was awarded the Cross of Police Merit with red badge. He worked as a na-
tional police officer in Bilbao until his retirement in 2014.



I Kill and lie

When news of the indiscriminate attack reached France, a heated discussion broke
out within ETA’'s leadership. The representatives of the military front, who were
intellectually and materially culpable for the massacre, defended taking responsi-
bility for it. On the other hand, the delegates of ETA's other fronts, who had not been
consulted about the plan, opposed it. They went so far as to label the military front
a “Basque Black September”.

ETA's first communiqués were very ambiguous, kindling a rumour that the far right
and the dictatorship were responsible for the bombing. Far-left and nationalist forc-
es, the media and even prestigious intellectuals subsequently spread the rumour.

Taking advantage of the conspiracy theory, ETA sent a communiqué to the press:

Third communiqué from
ETA (original in French), 17
October 1974.

Source: Lazkaoko
Beneditarren Fundazioa.




19. Kill and lie D

S AR SR el i

e L
i mc'ml DE §A DIRECCION NACTONAE DE B.T.A. Y '

- LI.ETA mi totalmente la resp L‘lid.aﬂ. de ls preparacilm y ejecucifn del
atentade de la cafeteria Rolando.Ningune de nuestros comandes,ningune de g

estres militantes,ha tenido participecidn alguna en la mccidn del wiernes
I3-9-I974 en Madrid.

2. Intenter determinar quien e quienes eran los respenssbles auténtices de
Ia explesién ha sido la razdn de muestro silencis.Hey ya estamos en las cene
diciones de afirmar que todosm los indiwmtivos establecen que el atentade de
la calle Correo ha corride a carge de micleos ultra-fascistas estrachamemte
ligados & determinades medios polfticos del Estado EBpafiol.EL objetive perse
guide en tal operacidm era provocar uma crisis en el seno del régimen para
fortalecer sw unidad interna slrededor de los sectores mis dures e intransie
gentes,Mueatra condicidn de revolucionarios wvascos nos empeja a continuar ls
investigaciones en este sentide,hasta llegar a clarificar totalmente el casa

rechaze categéricammnte,de plene,las afirmaciones de las autoridades

stas que acusan g Galarrags (Jese Manuel),z Jose Maria Arrubarrena
¥ & un grupo de sociaslistas espaficles y catalanes b de por G
Parest,esposa del sscritemr Alfonso Sastre.la policia ha incwrride en eontm
dicciones claras y evidentes,lo que resta todo crddito a sus conclusiones
Ia acusacidén a @elarrsga y su pesterior rectificaciénglas conferencias de
prensa del Sr,.Sains,responsable general de Investigacién Social,plagadas de
lagunas y vaguedades,y sin lograr presentar prueba alguma qus vinculase a
log detemidos Arrubarrens ¥y al grupe de Genoveva Porest com la explesién
de Rolande o la ejecucifn de Carrero Blance,censtituyen las manifestaciones
mfs claras de cuanto decimos.Hoy pretenden haber identificade a los ejecu~
tares materiales del atentade de la calle de(Rolande’ Correo;les acusades
nada tienen gue ver con muestr organizacidm.

4, Tode mes induce & pensar que la actusl histeria franguista puede acarre-
ar acciones represivas de trigicas consecuencias cuya amplitud es,hoy per
pimpreviaiblesJose Maria Arrubarrena y Genoveva Forest pueden ser conde-
a muerte en un préximo precesejtambien nuestro militante Jome Anmto-
nie Garmendia,acusade de dar muerte al torturador Gregorio Posads,corre i~
dentice rieago.
‘FODOS ELLOS S0N INOCENTES DE LOS HECHOS QUE SE LES INPUTAN,

S.Hacemos una llamada de atencidn y solidaridad:es necesaria la ayuds,el
APOY( ACTIVO de todas Ias fuerzes democrdticas del munde entero para impe-
dir los brutales planes de la dltima dictadura fascista de Buropa.

SALVENOS LAS VIDAS DE ARRUBARRENA,GARMENDIA Y GENOVEVA! 1
SOLIDARTDAD COR LOS DETENIDOS DE MADRID Y CON TODOB LOS REPRESALIADOS ¥ ENGA |
CELADOS POR MOTIVOS POLITICOS Y SOCIALES! |

Gors Buskadi Askatutal
Gora Buskadi Sezialista!

A
Direccién Nacional de Buskadi Ta Askajghdia

Third communiqué from ETA, 17 October 1974.
Source: Mario Onaindia Fundazioa.

The massacre was not the cause of the subsequent schism in ETA, which had
been going through a lengthy internal crisis, but it was the straw that broke the
camel’s back. At the end of 1974, the organisation split in two. The bulk of the
militancy formed ETA political-military, which disbanded in 1982. Meanwhile, the
military front became ETA military, whose bloody trajectory lasted until 2018. It
was only then that the terrorist group finally took responsibility for the Rolando
Café bombing.
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B Case 285/1974

Facial composite of the perpetrators of the massacre.

Source: EFE/lafototeca.com

I/}__L,f,;,j 388 A &4/

Cover of one of the volumes of Case 285/74 of the Military

Court of Chiefs and Officers (Madrid).

Source: Judicial Territorial Archive of the Community of Madrid.
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In the wake of the Rolando Café at-
tack, the entry in Tanque's diary re-
vealed its true meaning. Eva Forest
was arrested on 16 September. As
a result of her disclosures not only
was her network rounded up, but so
were those who had lent her their
homes without knowing Forest's
links to ETA. Some were tortured.

Forest claimed that she was a mem-
ber of the PCE, which was a lie, but
she managed to make the police
suspect the involvement of that par-
ty. Taking advantage of this, Fran-
co's secret service tried to link the
PCE with ETA. To avoid this associa-
tion, the PCE ordered its lawyers not
to defend the accused.

However, all the evidence pointed to
ETA. The Alcorcén safe house was
discovered, but it was too late: the
terrorists had already fled, although
the paper trail they had left behind
made it possible to retrace their
steps and identify them.

In December 1974, the Military
Court of Chiefs and Officers issued
a search and arrest warrant for Ber-
nard Oyarzabal and Maria Lourdes
Cristébal. They were not arrested,
however. The French Government
refused to extradite ETA members



20. Case 285/1974 D

on the basis of an international con-
vention from 1877. Oyarzabal and
Cristébal resumed their lives unhin-
dered.

From 1975 onwards, the defend-
ants were released from prison. On
1 June 1977, Eva Forest was also
released. She claimed that she had
had nothing to do with the massa-
cre. She and her husband, Alfonso
Sastre, moved to Hondarribia.

DOLOR &

In October 1977, the first Cortes of
the democratic era passed the Am-
nesty Law, which expunged criminal

responsibility for the crimes com-
I;';o?nl page of the evening newspaper Pueblo, 14 September mitted by ETA until June of that year.

Source: Virtual Library of Historical Press. Ministry of Culture The attack on Rolando Café went
and Sport.

unpunished.

Eva Forest leaving prison, accompanied
by her lawyer, her daughter and Alfonso
Sastre, 1 June 1977.

Source: MANUEL P BARRIOPEDRO/EFE/
lafototeca.com




Bl Forgetting/Remembering

Although the investiga-
tion showed that ETA had
planted the bomb and
there was almost unani-
mous condemnation of the
massacre, there was no
shortage of those who de-
fended Forest’s innocence,
denied that ETA had any-
thing to do with it and tried
to shift the blame to the
more radical right and/or

Presentation of the Euskal Herritarrok candidacy for Gipuzkoa in the
Basque regional elections in San Sebastian on 13 September 1998, on
the 24th anniversary of the massacre. From right to left, Arnaldo Otegi,  the regime itself.
Eva Forest and Alfonso Sastre.

Source: ANTONIO ALONSO./EFE./lafototeca.com. .
A lack of evidence meant

that this conspiracy theory
was eventually abandoned in the 1990s. Except for ETA itself, of course. The ter-
rorists did not acknowledge what they had done until 2018.

When she was released from prison in 1977, Eva Forest suffered no social re-
proach. She was even presented as a champion of causes such as freedom and
solidarity. However, she never had a word for the victims of terrorism. Neither did
the instigators of the crime, the heads of ETA’s military front, nor the perpetrators
of the attack.

“To ask for forgiveness requires more courage than firing a gun, than setting off
a bomb” (Fernando Aramburu: Patria).

The survivors and the relatives of the dead feel that they are the forgotten ones in
the history of ETA's first massacre. It is up to us to stop them being so. Let us re-
member what happened, but let us remember everything and everyone. Reading
the darkest pages of our past is the best vaccine against fanaticism and violence.
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21. Forgetting/Remembering O

Correo Street today.
Source: Gaizka Fernandez Soldevilla.
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L

Girl injured in the Rolando Café attack.
Source: Regional Archive of the
Community of Madrid. Martin Santos
Yubero Collection.
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